Webster Family, - extracts from Leverstock Green Chronicle & other sources
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Updated: 16th  November 2002

N.B. The details below are far from complete as there are many years as yet un researched from the local newspaper The Hemel Hempstead Gazette, which are relevant to the history of the Webster family whilst resident in Leverstock Green.  As and when I succeed in finding out more I shall add to the information below and change the Last Updated details above.

I learnt from Helen Atkin, the great grand daughter of Percy Webster, that he was connected with antique clocks, and an item which had been reported on a Website indicated that he must have had a large collection of antique clocks, which were auctioned by Southeby’s in 1954.  The date of the auction suggests that the auction took place following the death of Malcolm Webster in 1953.

It would also appear that Malcolm R Webster was co-author of the definitive book on antique clocks. “English Domestic Clocks” which was first published in 1913.  It is currently still in print published by the Antique Collectors Guild.

From”Monumental Inscriptions – Holyh Trinity Church Leverstock Green –HF&PHS – 1991

WEBSTER Percy of this parish who died Nov 16th 1938 aged 76 years Master of the Worshipful Company of Clockmakers AD 1927/ and of his son Malcolm WEBSTER who died Jan 15th 1953 aged 63 years Master of the Worshipful Company of Clockmakers AD 1948 Sun dial on large flat tombstone.

On the window-sill behind St. Benedict’s Altar stands a late seventeenth century silver & ebony Crucifix, a silver skull which was fixed under the cross was stolen during the 1960’s.  The crucific was given by the late Percy Webster in memory of his wife Elizabeth.  The Latin inscription composed by the Rev. Arthur Durrant reads: A.M.D.G. et piam memoriam E.E.W. qui obiit A.S. MCMXV Hanc Crucem in usum ecclesiae Sanctae Trinitatis de Levestock Green. Dedicavit conjux superstes.

N.B. “English Domestic Clocks”  by  Herbert Cescinsky & Malcolm R. Webster was first published in 1913 and is still in print published by the Antique Collectors’ Club.  It is one of the classic works on British clockmaking.

From the Leverstock Green Chronicle:

Monday April 1st 1907  - The annual Easter vestry of Holy Trinity was held at 11 am in the schoolroom.

“Among those present were the Vicar, who presided, Messrs A. Seabrook & W C Child Church Wardens, W Sears, R.W Wright, F Dell & W Perkins (sidesman) J K Hart, G A Finch, P Webster,……………….
Monday 20th April 1908 - The Easter Vestry of Holy Trinity Church was held in the schoolroom.  “There were present: the Vicar, The Rev. ~Arthur Durrant, Messrs Child & Seabrook (churchwardens), J. Bailey Snr, J.K.Hart, P.Webster……..
Friday 24th May 1908 - The inaugural meeting of the Leverstock Green Cricket Club was held.  The following report appeared in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette the next day:

“LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

CRICKET CLUB:- A special meeting was held in the schoolroom on Friday evening for the purpose of forming a cricket club for the village.  Mr. T.H.Ford presided and there was a good muster present.  It was decided to form a club forthwith and the following officers were elected: Mr. Ford Chairman of Committee; Mr. Graham Webster Hon. Secretary; Mr. Arthur Seabrook Treasurer; Mr. J. Hallett Captain and Mr. W. Dell sub captain; with seven others to constitute a committee.  During the proceedings sixteen members were enrolled.” [Gazette 23rd May 1908

May 8th 1908:  Once again the forthcoming Whit Monday sports was advertised in the Gazette.

LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

WHIT-MONDAY SPORTS:   For the fourth year in succession the village of Leverstock Green is to be a source of attraction to many Hemel Hempstead on Whit-Monday when the annual sports are to take place in a meadow lent to the committee by Mr. D. Walters.  The object, as regards finance, is an addition to the Parish Room fund, but it would appear from the popularity of the event in former years, that an equally important object is the provision of enjoyment to those in the neighbourhood who would otherwise be at a loss to find a suitable recreation without going out of the district.  From a glance at the programme it will easily be seen how complete are the arrangements, and should the weather be favourable, a thoroughly enjoyable time is certain.  During the afternoon there are to be some seventeen events, including a few novelties in the form of a backwards race, costume race, and a costume race, whilst in the cool of the evening everyone will have an opportunity of dancing to the strains of Dickinsons’ Silver Band.  At the  conclusion of the races Mrs. Percy Webster will present the prizes.  Full particulars of the function will be found in our advert columns.
May 8th 1908:  Once again the forthcoming Whit Monday sports was advertised in the Gazette.

LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

WHIT-MONDAY SPORTS:   For the fourth year in succession the village of Leverstock Green is to be a source of attraction to many Hemel Hempstead on Whit-Monday when the annual sports are to take place in a meadow lent to the committee by Mr. D. Walters.  The object, as regards finance, is an addition to the Parish Room fund, but it would appear from the popularity of the event in former years, that an equally important object is the provision of enjoyment to those in the neighbourhood who would otherwise be at a loss to find a suitable recreation without going out of the district.  From a glance at the programme it will easily be seen how complete are the arrangements, and should the weather be favourable, a thoroughly enjoyable time is certain.  During the afternoon there are to be some seventeen events, including a few novelties in the form of a backwards race, costume race, and a costume race, whilst in the cool of the evening everyone will have an opportunity of dancing to the strains of Dickinsons’ Silver Band.  At the  conclusion of the races Mrs. Percy Webster will present the prizes.  Full particulars of the function will be found in our advert columns.
LEVERSTOCK GREEN

THE FOURTH

ANNUAL SPORTS

Will be held on

WHIT MONDAY

In a meadow kindly lent by D. Walters Esq.

at Westwick Farm

___________________________________________

programme:

Tug of War  between Sports Committee and Leverstock Green Football Club

Entrance fee to events 1, 5,  7   3d each  Entrance fee to events 2,  4, 10 1s each  others 6d

Entries close Thursday June 4th

Sports Commence: 2.30.     Dancing 7 till 9

DICKINSONS’ SILVER BAND

will leave Moor End at 1 o’clock marching through Marlowes

MRS PERCY WEBSTER  has kindly consented to present the prizes.

Refreshments and Teas will be supplied at moderate prices

by E. Westell, Cheapside Bakery

ADMISSION TO GROUNDS - SIXPENCE

Tickets taken before Tuesday  - FOURPENCE

Tickets and entry forms may be obtained of the Committee: Mears; A. Seabrook; W Dell;

WW Sears; BJ Briggs; F Dell;    H Cooper; G Webster; or W Wright Hon. Sec.

Proceeds in Aid of Parish Room Funds.

LEVERSTOCK GREEN

5TH ANNUAL SPORTS

WILL BE HELD

On WHIT-MONDAY

In a meadow kindly lent by D. at 2.30 Walters, Esq.,

Commence at 2.30

-------------

Programme of Events

100 yards Boys Handicap (under 15)...........Entrance fee 3d

100 Yards Handicap (open)................................”          “  1s

One mile cycle handicap....................................”          “   1s

Egg & spoon race for ladies  ..........................                    6d

Sack race handicap .......................................                      6d

Obstacle race .............................................                         6d

Skipping competition for girls ................                           3d

One mile walking handicap ............................                   6d

Wheelbarrow race ..........................................                    6d

One mile flat handicap................................                       1s

Relay race for ladies ......................................                    6d

120 yards hurdles handicap

                 6d

Slow cycle handicap


                 6d

Quoits match


                 6d

MAYPOLE  DANCE AND MUSICAL DRILLS BY THE SCHOOL CHILDREN

The Berkhamsted St. Peter’s Band
Will play during the afternoon and

for dancing after the sports

THE COUNTESS OF VERULAM

Has kindly  consented to distribute the Prizes.
REFRESHMENTS will be provided at Moderate Prices by Mr. H. Cox, Abbots Langley.              Attractive Side Shows
Tickets and Entry forms can be obtained from members of the Sports Committee, Leverstock Green Post Office, and in “The Leather Bottle”.  W. Dell  and G. Webster

Hon. Secretaries

1 May 1909 - FOOTBALL CLUB DINNER AT LEVERSTOCK GREEN - The Gazette carried a long write up of the dinner held at the Leather Bottle) at the invitation of Percy Webster.  Over 30 were present and it was presided over by Mr. T H Ford.

31 May 1909, Whit Monday. - Once again the annual Leverstock Green sports was a great success:

FETE      AND    SPORTS   AT

 LEVERSTOCK GREEN

--------

ANOTHER HUGE SUCCESS

3 July 3rd 1909      : A Garden Fete at Sibley’s Orchard was advertised in the Gazette  in aid of Parish Room Fund.

Wed 14 July 1909 : For the admission of 6d. the locals were able to attend a garden fete, reported in the following week’s Gazette as follows: 

Garden Fete at Leverstock Green 

The village of Leverstock Green has for many years had a keen struggle to maintain its various institutions, and it has had to deprive itself of many necessities for the social welfare of the villagers, through the very small proportion of the very small proportion of the population who are in a position to render financial and other assistance. S  But ion the words of a popular song “Things are begging to hum!”, and progress in regard to the Parish Room Fund the cricket and football clubs, and other organisations has been very marked since Mr. Webster and his family came to reside at Sibley’s Orchard.  There is no place in the village where meetings can be held except n an inconvenient schoolroom, and a committee has been struggling with a fund for the provision of  a Parish Room for five or six years.  Such a social centre is now ell in sight, for plans have been prepared, a fair sum is in hand, a site has practically been secured, and the whole scheme generally is being entered into  by an enthusiastic and enterprising committee.  But a large amount is still required, and with the object of helping the fund, Mr. Webster kindly placed his grounds at the disposal of a garden fete for Wednesday.  Few indeed would ever dream that there was such a charming spot within a stone’s throw of the church, and the large attendance appreciated to the full extent the opportunity of enjoying themselves amidst such charming surroundings.  The well-kept lawns, flower garden and grounds were looking their best, and made an ideal spot for such a function.  There was but a small uniform charge made for admission, but with the numerous attractions, which were well patronised, it is hoped that a substantial profit will be the result. Those mainly responsible for the arrangements, in addition to Mr. Percy Webster and his family  were Messrs W. Dell, WW Sears, H. Cooper, A. Seabrook, J. Hallett, W. Wright, W.C. Child, Rev. A. Durrant.  All worked most assiduously on the day and were assisted by many friends.  A capital entertainment was given by from a decorated platform on the lawn, the contributions including some splendid songs, drills and sketches by the children of the village school under the of Mrs. Ford; songs by Miss Olive Seabrook and Mr. A.W.Llloyd; an amusing duet in costume, by Messrs  H.Lavers and A M Durrant, a dance by Miss Smuthwaite and comic songs by Mr. W. Green.  A hat trimming competition, organised by Miss May Bailey, was a great success there being 12 competitors.  The judges were Messrs. H. Lavers, and A M Durrant and the prizes were (given  by  Mr. Webster) were won by Mrs. Evans and Miss Bailey.  Some excellent side-show attractions were splendidly arranged and ably managed as follows:  Mysterious Goliwog, Miss Child; Fine Art Exhibition, Miss Woodman; Palmist, Miss H. Balderson; Ice cream stall Miss Bailey; Refreshments, Mrs. Cox Mrs. Umfreville and Mts. Webster assisted by Misses Phyllis and Doris Cox, Millicent Cook, Violet Moxsy, Doris Umfreville and Isobel Webster.  At dusk the grounds were prettily illuminated, and the Hemel Hempstead string band played selections and for dancing there being a large crowd present.  The fete was a delightful one in every respect, thanks mainly to the generous support and enthusiasm of Mr. & Mrs. P. Webster and family.   [Gazette 17 July 1909 p.8]

1910 -    Few changes had been made in the basic information given in Kelly's directory for this year, although for the first time it did mention that Hemel Hempstead Station, the terminus of a branch of the Midland Railway ( called locally the Nicky Line ) was 2.5 miles to the N.W.  Arthur Evans was now the principal landowner in place of the Dickinson family, along with the Earl of Verulam.  George Dogget, James Hallett, Constable Huckle and Mr. & Mrs. Ford all still held their places in Leverstock Green Society. Average attendance at the Elementary School  was 116.

Some building had gone on in the village, and this was reflected in the increase in the numbers of principal residents listed, although not all were in new residences:

Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury             
William Beecham, Wood Lane End.

Mrs. Bessant, Tile Kiln House            
William Charles Child, Hill Side

Thomas Cox, Hill Farm                   
Rev. Arthur Durrant, Vicarage

Bonomy Panmure Eykyn, Orchard Lea       
George B. Houghton, Cox Pond

Ivan Jackson, Woodside                   
Miss Jackson, The Dells

Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard           
22 June 1911 - Coronation of George V   - Celebrations of the Coronation took place all over the district. It is unclear from  the Gazette report of those which took place pat Leverstock Green whether they occurred on the day or at a later date, as they weren’t reported for two weeks.

LEVERSTOCK GREEN CORONATION CELEBRATIONS

A long list of successes in regard to Coronation celebrations in the villages in this district has been chronicled, but few were more thorough and passed off more harmoniously than those of Leverstock Green .

This little village proved its loyalty by highly creditable displays.  The committee, with the Vicar, the Rev. A. Durrant, on the bridge, and the schoolmaster Mr. T H Ford on the helm, spent many hours of careful thought and discussion in arranging details, with the result that the celebration proceedings were carried out without the slightest suspicion of a hitch, and in a manner which reflected the utmost credit on the organisers, and gave every satisfaction to those who participated in them.

At 9 am there was a choral celebration, and two hours later a goodly number attended a special service conducted by the Vicar.  A procession was formed on the green soon after on o'clock and in it were included boy scouts, girl guides, schoolchildren and others dressed in costumes both elaborate and delightfully humorous.  The “Pied Piper” headed the procession, which wended its way to Northend Farm, where a meadow was at the disposal of the officials and also a barn, in which the feasting took place.  In the meadow all kinds of sports were indulged in by the more youthful members of the community.  There was a diversion in the form of a May (pole) dance by sixteen school children, who showed evidence of careful and very considerable training at the hands of Mrs. Ford.

Tea began at 4 o’clock.  The guests were arranged in batches according to seniority, and nearly 600 were entertained at 8 p.m..  Mr. O. Webster distributed the prizes to the successful competitors in the sports, and those who had gained awards in the fancy costume competition.  Dancing was indulged in for an hour to excellent music by a string band arranged by the Vicar, and composed of local performers, and who gave an exhibition of their owners during the afternoon.  After the National Anthem had been sung and vociferous cheers given for the King and Queen and adjournment was made to the village green, where a huge bonfire was lighted and blazed away merrily for some time.  Amongst the officials who worked so energetically may be mentioned: Chairman the Rev. A. Durrant; hon. treasurer Mr. W C Child;  hon. secretary Mr. T H Ford; general committee, Messrs P Webster, C. Ingham, Wed., R W.Wright; W W Sears, Mears, J. Bailey,  junior, A. Seabrook, W. Parkins, T. Parkins, Goodenough, T. Perkins, and J. Hallett.  A sum of about £40 was collected for the celebration and it was unanimously agreed that the money had been spent in the best possible manner. [Gazette 8 July 1911 p.7]

1912 - The entry in Kelley's Directory for Leverstock Green this year showed very little change from 1910. The population figures were identical with those for 1901.  The position of Parish Clerk had once more fallen to the village wheelwright, this time, Robert William Wright.  There was no change in the post office or the times of despatch and collection of the post.  There was a new village bobby,  Constable Allen William.  The Public Elementary School was now classed as a mixed and infants school, although strangely Kelley's noted that the school had been built for 131 children, rather than the 250 previously given. Average attendance was much as before at 115, and the school was still run by Mr. & Mrs. Ford.

A new entry appeared; that of Correspondent, for which the Rev. Durrant was named.  Entries elsewhere throughout the directory also gave the local vicars as Correspondents.  I wonder with whom they were supposed to correspond?

The list of principal Private residents was slowly increasing, and included a 

Justice of the Peace. It now read as follows:

Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury             
William Beecham, Wood Lane End

William Charles Child, Hill Side        
Thomas Cox, Hill Farm

Col.Charles, Wm.Ernest Duncombe        
 Rev. Arthur Durrant, Vicarage

 V.D. J.P. Orchard Lea                  

Mrs. How, Cox Pond

Elliott Jackson, Bennetts End Ho.       
Miss Jackson, Tile Kiln Cottage

Herbert Secretan, The Dells             
Sl .Golden Umfreville, Well House Farm

Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard.
Monday 24  March 1913 - Holy Trinity’s annual Vestry meeting was held, attending by the Rev. Durrant (in the chair) and Messrs Webster, Hart, Child and Seabrook. The last two were re-elected church wardens.  Mr. Child presented the accounts, showing a deficit of £20 2s 7d., the expenditure of the year was £52.  Mr. W. Dell was appointed to represent the parish at the Rural Deanery Synod. [Gazette 29 March 1913]

6th February 6th 1915- A new list of those men who had joined up appeared n the paper:

SERVING THEIR Country

The following is a further list of those who are serving their King & Country from Leverstock Green making 33 in all:

F Aldenham - Kitchen's Army

HC Bessant - London Scottish

B Bessant - anti aircraft

G Cull - Kitchener’s Army

A.B Ford - British Red Cross

Lance Corporal Glazier - reservist

Hoare - Kitchener’s Army

C Ingham - Queens Westminster Rifles

F Johnson - Kitchener’s Army

B L Shapcott - Kitchener’s Army

S Simmons - Army service corps

Warren - army service corp.

R Webster - Royal Fusiliers
25 December 1915 - The Christmas Day edition of the Gazette  carried a report of the purchase of the land for the parish Room, which had taken place earlier in the year (See entry for  18 February 1915)

LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

SITE FOR PARISH HALL PURCHASED

The Inhabitants of Leverstock Green will probably be interested to know that one of the obstacles which has been facing the Parish Room Committee has now been removed. For some years past the landowners in the district have been frequently approached with regard to the purchase of a site, but until now all efforts have been unsuccessful.  On Tues. evening in last week a meeting was held under the presidency of  vicar ( ) Mr Percy Webster reported that he and the Vicar acting on a resolution of the committee had completed the purchase of a splendid site of half an acre between the Church and the Vicarage, the purchaser's covenanting with the vendor that the site should only be used for the purpose of a  parish room, club or institute for Leverstock Green.  It was further resolved to execute a deed conveying the property in trust for the committee, of which the Vicar and Church Warden were to be ex-oficio members, and in the event of any member deceased or resignation another to be elected by the remaining members.  It is understood that building operations cannot take place at present, but now that a site has been obtained and the scheme founded on a firm basis, its hoped the donations will be forthcoming to enable the committee to carry out the work as soon as possible, which will undoubtedly be a great boon to the village.  The sec Mr. W Wright gave an interesting account of the great struggle it had been to obtain sufficient funds to purchase the site, the movement starting with a concert, organised by a few residents, and by these and similar means a plot of ground has at last been acquired, leaving very little money to start the building.  The following promises towards the building fund have been received; Messrs J Dickinson & Co. £25; Mr T W Toovey £20, Mr WC Child, £10, Mr Percy Webster £10. [Gazette  25
1917 - Kelly's Directory for this year was only a little changed from that for 1912. It was, however, noted that Arthur Evans had been knighted, and was now Sir Arthur Evans.M.A.  Interestingly it gave the 1911 population figure as 697, as opposed to 649 quoted for 1911 in 1912! The police force was represented by Constable William Thomas Bedford. The lists of residents were given as follows:             

                         Private Residents.

Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury             
William Beecham, Wood Lane End

Charles Bessant, Tile Kiln             

William Charles Child,
Hill Side

Thomas Daniel Cox, Hill Farm             
Col. Chas. Wm. Enst. Duncombe. J.P., Orchard Lea

Rev. Arthur Durrant, Vicarage

John McOustra, Hill House  



George Secker, Cox Pond


Herbert Secretan, The Dells              


Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard 

19th January 1918 - Once again the Gazette carried considerable information concerning Leverstock Green:

ON LEAVE:

2nd Lieu B Webster Royal Fusiliers, son of Mr & Mrs Percy Webster is home on leave for 14 days.  Joining up almost at the commencement of the war, he has done about three years of valuable service in France.  This is his third leave since he landed in France.

25th January 1919 - The Gazette reported on the scheme for the proposed Parish Room, which had been under discussion for 15 years and had not at that date matured.:

PARISH HALL QUESTION:-

The question of a parish hall for the village has been under consideration for 15 years, and the scheme has not yet materialized, though progress has been made.  By means of dances, sports and concerts the sum of £168 9s.  has been raised.  A site has been purchased at a  cost of £100, upon which the cabbages are sprouting, but there is no sign yet of a room growing.  The need of a suitable hall is very greatly felt, but outside help must be forthcoming if it is to be provided.  The war has prevented any general appeal, and also caused  a modification in the original scheme, owing to the cost of building.  It is now suggested that an army hut might be purchased as a temporary measure, and this idea is supported by the Women’s Institute who have promised their energetic support, so that the hard working committee, who have the matter in hand, are hoping to receive help from generous people in the neighbourhood.  The Rev. Arthur Durrant is Chairman, Mr.. P Webster treasurer, and Mr.. W. Wright secretary.  There is a balance in hand of £56.6s 6d., and among the subscriptions given or promised are: Messrs. J. Dickinson and Co.. Ltd. £25; Mr.. T.W.Toovey, £20; Mrs.. Grimwood £10.10s.; Mr.. P. Webster £10; and Mr.. C.W. Childs £10. [Gazette 25th Jan. 1919]

(N.B. the following report on the establishment of the Parish Room was given to me by Reg Beacon in some notes, but incorrectly attributed to 1915.  “Prior to this time the only meeting places in Leverstock Green (apart from the Church and Chapel ) were the numerous Ale Houses and Public Houses in the village. Consequently in 1915 an area of land at the corner of Pancake Lane and Leverstock Green Road, was conveyed to Trustees for use as a Parish Hall, Club or Institute.  The necessary money for the  erection of the building was collected by some of the more wealthy citizens of the Parish, and a modest building was erected in the form of a timber hut.  This also became the Church Hall.” [ S75 ] )

£168. 5s had been raised so far from dances, jumble sales etc..  A site had been purchased at the cost  of £100 upon which according to the Gazette cabbages were sprouting!  Various subscriptions were promised by members of the local community.  The Rev. Durrant was Chairman of the Parish Room Trust, Mr. P. Webster was the Treasurer and Mr. W. Wright the secretary.   [Gazette 25/1/1919]

Saturday 31st May 1919 -  There was a presentation in the village, reported the following week as follows:-

“On Saturday 31st May a presentation was made to Mr.. W.C. Child as an appreciation of his good work in the parish of Holy Trinity, Leverstock Green , as Sunday School teacher, people’s warden, and organist for many years.  The presentation took the form of a gold watch, with inscription, and an illuminated address, with list of subscribers as follows: 

The Rev. & Mrs... Durrant, Mr.. & Mrs... Bailey, Miss Bailey, Mr.. J. Bailey,  Mrs... de Beager, Mr.. & Mrs.. Bedford, Mr.. & Mrs.. Bessant, Mr.. & Mrs... Biggs, Mr.. & Mrs.. Biswell, Miss Bloxham, Mr.. & Mrs... W Brigginshaw, Mr.. & Mrs... C. Brigginshaw, Mrs... Briggs, Nurse Carter, Mr.. Charge, Mrs... Cooper, Mrs... Currell, Mr.. & Mrs... Cox, Mr.. & Mrs... J. Dell, Miss B. Dell, Mr.. & Mrs... F. Dell, Mr.. & Mrs.. G. Dell, Mrs... Doggett, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Edwards, Mr.. A. Finch, Mr.. & Mrs... Fountain, Mr.. & Mrs... Gambles, Mr.. & Mrs... Goodenough, Mrs... Grimwood, Mr.. & Mrs... Hallett. Mr.. & Mrs... Lyn Harding, Mr.. & Mrs... Horrowell, Mr.. & Mrs... Hart, Mrs... Hill, Miss Hobbs, Miss Hobday, Mr.. & Mrs... Howe, Mrs... Hutchins, Miss Ingham, Mr.. & Mrs... Latchford, Mr.. & Mrs... Martin, Mr.. & Mrs... Matthews, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Mears, Miss Mortimer, Mr.. Orchard, Mr.. Paradine, Mrs... Parkins, Mr.. & Mrs... Peddar, Mr.. & Mrs.. Perkins, Mr.. & Mrs.., Perry, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Seabrook, Miss Ethel  Seabrook, Mrs... Sears, Mrs... D. Sears, Mrs... W. Sears, Mr.. & Mrs... Secker, Mr. & Mrs... Secretan, Mr.. & Mrs... Shapcott, Mrs... Sharp, Mrs... S. Simons, Mr.. & Mrs... J. Steers,,  Mr.. & Mrs... W. Steers, Mr.. T. Toovey, Mr.. & Mrs... Turner, Mr.. Webster, Miss Whitehead, Miss A. Whitehead, Mr.. & Mrs... Wilson, Mr.. & Mrs... A. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... G. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... W. Woodwards, Mr.. & Mrs... W. Wright.

Mr. Ford went on to record in the school log book for  16th Feb. 1920 that:-

 “ Mr. P. Webster (Manager) & Mr. Lyn Harding visited this morning re memorial”.   
Mr.. Percy Webster lived at Sibleys Orchard, was a  London Goldsmith and a pillar of the church and Leverstock Green society; Mr.. Lyn Harding lived in Tile Kiln Lane and was an actor who at the time was receiving excellent notices for his performances in the London theatres.. [ S73, Gazette April 16th 1920, S115]

28th August 1920 -  the following note on Leverstock Green’s Football Club appeared in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette:

Mr.. L.R. Seabrook is this year the Secretary of the Leverstock Green Football Club whose headquarters will be at “The Leather Bottle”.  Last year’s secretary Mr.. D. Cox is assistant secretary, H. Gentle is Captain and A. Hobbs “vice”.  The club are anticipating a good season and have entered the following competitions: West Hertfordshire League (Div.II), Minor Cup, Webster Cup and the Hertfordshire Junior Cup. [Gazette 28th August 1920;  S303]

Thursday 14th July 1921 -  At an auction for the sale of  part of the Abbots Hill Estate, ( on the instructions of Sir Arthur Evans) it was announced that Chambersbury Farm had been sold privately to the tenants (Joseph Bailey), -Mr. Webster (Sibleys Orchard) had bought some meadow land down by the canal, and properties fronting Bunkers Land & Chambersbury Lane and that the  Keepers Lodge with gardens kennels outbuildings and 38 acres bought by Mr Joseph Bailey for £1200 [Gazette 16 July 1921]

LEVERSTOCK GREEN 

DRIVE & DANCE

Another whist drive was recently held at the Vicarage Leverstock Green and later in the evening dancing was continued in the Parish Hall till 12 o’clock.  The whist drive proved a very happy event, the prizes being provided by members of the Organising Committee. The Whist drives are held every Wed in order to pay off the deficit incurred by the erection of the Parish Hall.  Since it was completed about £100  has been made by means of various events in the village and the drive and dance added a further quota to this fund.  It will be remembered that Mr. P Webster very generously promised to contribute a further 50% to the final amount and the committee have been persevering to make this as large as possible.  There still, however, remains  a good deal to be paid off before the total cost of the hall can be defrayed.  It is hoped that a smoking concert will be arranged to take place in the open in about a fortnight’s time.  [ Gazette 30 July 1921]
20 August 1921- WEBSTER CUP COMPETITION
 - FLOURISHING SEASON PROMISED





 - RECORD ENTRY LIST

“The annual meeting of the Webster Cup competition was held at the Leather Bottle Leverstock Green on Friday evening last when Mr A Ford supported by Mr J Dell the Hon sec presided over a good number of club representatives”

There were 18 entries this year for the local football trophy donated by Percy Webster of Sibleys Orchard, including the Leverstock Green team. [Gazette 20 August 1921]

1922 -  The entry in Kelley's Directory for this year showed only a few changes.  One which possibly reflected the way life in general had been altered since the war, was that the seating in the church for 404 persons was now all free. The vicar and parish clerk remained unchanged from 1917, but the other principal offices in the village had undergone change. William Long was now sub-postmaster, and Constable John Major represented the County Constabulary.  The school appeared to be without staff as the position of schoolmaster or mistress was left blank.  There were surprisingly few changes in the list of residents and commercial undertakings. It can be noted, however, that Walter William Sears had succeeded his father William Walter, as builder.  See entry for 5th January 1918.  The directory's entry read as follows:

                              Residents.

Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury              
William Beecham, Wood Lane End

Charles Bessant, Tile Kiln              
William Chs. Child, Hill Side

Thomas Daniel Cox, Hill Farm            
Charles Thomas Drake, Hill House

Rev. Arthur Durrant, Vicarage            
Arthur Marston Junior, Bennetts End  Lodge

Herbert Secretan, The Dells                          Joseph Turner, Cox Pond                 

Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard.
14th January 1922 -  The Gazette carried the following addendum: “We stated last week that £200 had been raised during the past year towards the liquidation of the debt on the Parish Hall.  We are now informed that about £60 was very generously contributed by Mr. P Webster.”  [Gazette 14 January 1922]

1926 - Several changes were noted in Kelley's Directory for this year, but perhaps the most innovative being the coming of the telephone, as some residents were listed as having telephone numbers. The census returns of 1921 put the population up slightly at 772……………………………

                              Residents

…………..
Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard
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8th October 1927 - This advert [R] for the sale of The Red Lion appeared in the Gazette: 
October 15th 1927 - notice in the adverts that the Red Lion was sold previous to auction.

Nov/Dec Typhoid outbreak in Hemel Hempstead with Isolation hospital used purely for TYPHOID CASES.

Saturday December 3rd 1927-  a long article appeared in the Gazette devoted to the wedding of Malcolm R Webster.
WEDDING OF MR. M R WEBSTER

“A wedding of local interest was solemnized at St. Andrew’s church, Edinburgh between Malcolm Robert, eldest son of Mr. Percy Webster Leverstock Green, and Annie daughter of the late Mr. David J Girdwood and niece of Mr. John Girdwood, Edinburgh” The rest of the entire column was given over to a list of the presents and who they were from!  These presents included cheques, gold dollars, sovereigns, antiques from the small to pieces of furniture, a great deal of silver ware, and just about everything a young couple of means could want when setting up home down to a handkerchief!  The Rev. Durrant gave the couple a prayer book.  The Webster family generally giving cheques, and the maids from Sibleys orchard an ebony box.  Amongst the list of givers were numerous titles, indicating that the couple moved amongst the “county set” etc.  The groom gave his bride a ruby and diamond ring from the Russian State Jewel collection - it must be it must be remembered that the Webster’s were London Goldsmiths/clockmakers by trade. [Gazette 3/12/1927]
1929      -  Some changes were evident  in the entry for Leverstock Green in Kelly's Directory for this year. For some reason they no longer gave information on the school and the village policeman, although I'm certain they still existed!  The Earl of Verulam was now listed as the only principal landowner.

A larger number of private residents were listed, amongst whom was Malcolm Webster at St. Michael's End - the property which had previously been the Red Lion P.H.   Humphrey Secretan had succeeded Herbert Secretan at The Dells, refreshment rooms had opened at Cox Pond ( I'm assuming the beverage was tea rather than beer!)  Refreshment in the form of beer was declining in popularity, and there was at this time only one proper Pub and four beer retailers.  Telephone numbers were slightly more widespread.  The list was as follows:

                                   Residents. 

Robert Addie, Denver, Bennetts End            
Joseph Bailey, Chambersbury

William Beecham, Wood Lane End                
Charles Bessant, Tile Kiln ,B.E.

Mrs. Brebner, Hill Farm House               

Will. Chas. Child, Hill Side

Alfred Croker, Logandene ,B.E.                 

Archie Fred. Day, Rooks Nest B.E.

Chas.Thos. Drake, Hill House                  

Rev. Arthur Durrant,Vicarage

John Art. Marston, Orchard Lea B.E.           
Richard Morrison ,Ben.End House

Humphrey B.Secretan, The Dells               

Malc.Webster, St. Michael's End
Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard.
1930’s
The 1930's as Remembered by Sidney Dollimore.

…………..Residing almost opposite to Joe Bailey, at Sibleys Orchard was a Mr. Webster whom I understood to be a retired London Jeweller. He was the donator of the Webster Cup to the Herts Football Association.  His son Malcolm lived at the Old Red Lion ( which I now believe is called St. Michaels End)  His chauffeur at that time being Mr. Field, the father-in-law of Madge Field ( who was granddaughter to Arthur Seabrook of the Leather Bottle)…………

20th October 1932 - John Knox Hart, the former owner of  Leverstock Green Farm died.  His obituary in the Gazette  the following week read:

DEATH OF MR JOHN KNOX HART
……………………..

The funeral was on Monday at St. Mary’s Apsley, the Rev. C.B. Goodwin conducting.  The chief mourners were:

Mr. John Knox Hart (son), Mrs. Margaret Wilson (daughter), Mr. W. Wilson and Mr. Donald Pratt (sons in law), also Mr. Lyn Harding…………………. Mr. & Mrs. Malcolm; R. Webster; ……….. Mr. Percy Webster…………. [ Gazette 29th October 1932]

1933 - Kelley's Directory once more shows how life in the village was beginning to come into the twentieth century.   The list of private residents was increasing ( that is the better off members of the community who wished to be entered into the directory). For the most part the new building going on in the village was of individual reasonable sized dwellings which were given individual names. House numbers didn't generally appear in such a rural location for another few years.

The list of private residents was increasing ( that is the better off members of the community who wished to be entered into the directory). For the most part the new building going on in the village was of individual reasonable sized dwellings which were given individual names. House numbers didn't generally appear in such a rural location for another few years.

……………………

                                   Residents

………………….

Malc.R.Webster,  St. Michael's End        
Percy Webster, Sibleys Orchard
September 21st 1933  - The funeral took place at Leverstock Green Church  (Holy Trinity) of Lady Clayton East Clayton, daughter of the vicar Arthur Durrant.  Mr. P. Webster attended.
1937 – both Malcolm and Percey Webster were listed as residents of St. Michael’s end and Sibley’s Orchard respectively.

Saturday June 18th 1949- “Centenary Gift Day”.  The Rev. Thomas sat in church all day to receive gifts which raised a total of £208, primarily for the redecoration of the church. Full details of the gifts received are in the centenary book which can be viewed on http://lgchronicle20.homestead.com/HT100.html  These included the handmade silver-gilt Chalice made by Malcolm Webster still in use today. [S141]

LEFT: Page from the Centenary booklet showing the Webster Chalice.


Sale of Freehold TUDOR COTTAGE


Until recently known as


The Red Lion Inn,


Leverstock Green, Hemel 


Hempstead.





Rural situation 2 ½ miles from Hemel Hempstead,


 4 ½ miles from St. Albans, and


About 24 miles from London.





The cottage stands some 430 feet above sea level, and about 47 feet from the Road. Brick built and roofed with old Hand-made red tiles.  It has on the Ground floor: 3 reception rooms,  kitchen and scullery, and on the upper floor 4 bedrooms.  Good cellarage. Coy’s Water.  Good garden extending in all to nearly  half an acre.





VACANT POSSESSION on completion


Of Purchase


Which


W. BROWN & CO


re directed by W. I. A. Warren


Esq.  To sell by private auction at


THE BELL HOTEL HEMEL HEMPSTEAD 


On THURSDAY OCTOBER 20th 1927 at 4pm.


Full details may be obtained from the Auctioneers at the Town Hall Chambers Hemel Hempstead; also at Tring, Berkhamsted & Aylesbury.











� Webster Cup is still played for today.





